STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

V.

SIDNEY STCLAIR MOORER,

RESPONDENT

SC Court of Appeals

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001876

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUL 01 2019

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in failing to direct a verdict where the state failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant obstructed justice?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 20, 2014, an Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant for obstruction of justice (2014-GS-26-1121). R. 1100-1101. The state, represented by Nancy Livesay and Joshua Holford, called the case for trial before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., and a jury on August 28-30, 2017. R. 1. James Galmore and Kirk Truslow represented Appellant. R. 1. During the jury's deliberations, the jury requested a written explanation for the obstruction of justice charge. R. 459, ll. 5-7; R. 1097-1098. The judge provided the jurors with the written instruction regarding obstruction of justice. R. 459, ll. 7-8; R. 1097-1098. The judge did not provide the entirety of the instructions in written form.¹ Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 460, l. 24 – R. 461, l. 5. Judge Dennis sentenced Appellant to ten years in prison. R. 475, l. 1; R. 1102.

On September 1, 2017, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

¹ Defense counsel failed to object to the judge providing the jury with only the instruction regarding obstruction of justice, in written form. Nevertheless, the South Carolina Supreme Court has made clear that “[i]t is never appropriate ... to give only part of the charge to the jury.” State v. Covert, 382 S.C. 205, 210, 675 S.E.2d 740, 743 (2009). While “[a] trial court may, in its discretion, submit its instructions on the law to the jury in writing,” “submission of written instructions to the jury is not appropriate for every case.” State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 129, 644 S.E.2d 693, 697 (2007). Provision of written instructions to the jury must “be carefully exercised by the Bench.” Id. at 129, 644 S.E.2d at 697-698.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial ‘if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). “Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” Id. “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. “On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal,” the reviewing court “must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. at 139; 708 S.E.2d at 777; see also State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court’s denial of the directed verdict motion. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 416, 429 S.E.2d at 409.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Brianna Warrelmann and Heather Elvis worked at the Tilted Kilt restaurant and bar in 2013. R. 207, l. 20 – R. 208, l. 6. The two were roommates as well. R. 208, ll. 4-6. Appellant “did maintenance work around the restaurant.” R. 208, ll. 7-10; see also, R. 236, ll. 6-9. From June of 2013 until late October or early November, Appellant and Elvis “were in a normal boyfriend/girlfriend relationship.” R. 208, ll. 11-14; R. 208, ll. 21-24; R. 237, ll. 14-18; R. 238, ll. 1-2; R. 238, ll. 13-15. When Appellant and Elvis broke up, Elvis initially had difficulty, but “towards the end she was doing fine.” R. 210, ll. 9-11; see also R. 238, ll. 6-10. In fact, in December, Elvis was “[h]appy” and “was starting to get out there again, talking to new men.” R. 210, ll. 12-14.

On December 17, 2013, Elvis went on a date with Steven Schiraldi and had plans to go out with him the following day as well. R. 216, ll. 1-6; R. 216, ll. 10-17; R. 218, ll. 8-14; R. 220, ll. 1-6; R. 221, ll. 4-7. After the date, Elvis and Schiraldi communicated through text messages until 2:43 a.m. on December 18, 2013. R. 85, ll. 16-23; R. 90, ll. 20-24; R. 223, ll. 9-19.²

On December 19, 2013, a police officer with the Horry County Police Department noticed “a suspicious vehicle at a landing.” R. 18, ll. 2-21. Thereafter, the officer’s supervisor began “looking for Heather Elvis.” R. 19, ll. 5-11. The supervisor went to the Tilted Kilt. R. 19, ll. 12-16. From there, the supervisor was led to Appellant. R. 19, ll. 19-23.

Appellant’s first contact with police

Very early in the morning on December 20, 2013, the supervisor left a voicemail message for Appellant. R. 20, ll. 20-24; R. 31, ll. 10-13; R. 429, ll. 9-11. When Appellant returned his

² Schiraldi was first contacted by police on December 20, 2013. R. 225, ll. 6-9. Schiraldi never went to the police to discuss Elvis’s disappearance, despite knowing he was the last person to see Elvis. R. 226, ll. 7-10; R. 227, ll. 1-9. Schiraldi explained that he “was pretty in the dark about the situation” until law enforcement approached him. R. 227, ll. 10-14.

call, the supervisor asked if Appellant “had any information on the whereabouts of Heather Elvis.” R. 21, ll. 4-7; R. 31, ll. 10-13. Despite the formal police report indicating that Appellant told the supervisor that he had not *seen* Elvis in six weeks, the supervisor insisted at trial that Appellant explained that he had not “spoken to her in approximately six weeks.” R. 21, ll. 8-10; R. 30, l. 24 – R. 31, l. 5; R. 31, ll. 19-20; R. 1077-1088. Nevertheless, the supervisor was forced to admit that during that *same* conversation with the supervisor, Appellant said “he had spoken to her the night before.” R. 21, ll. 20-23; R. R. 1077-1088. “[H]e only spoke to her to tell her to stop contacting him.” R. 21, ll. 15-19; R. R. 1077-1088.

Based upon this conversation, the supervisor sent an officer – Casey Canterbury – to speak with Appellant in person. R. 21, l. 24 – R. 22, l. 3; R. 36, ll. 5-7. According to the supervisor, due to the change in Appellant’s story about his communications with Elvis, the supervisor “felt as if” “there was going to be more questions and more follow-up to be done with him.” R. 22, ll. 4-8.

The supervisor claimed that if he had known about “a pay phone call or that he had talked to her twice after midnight,” he would have “probably” “gone out there” himself and “with additional information, it would have led [him] to contact Investigations.” R. 23, ll. 3-10. Knowledge of the pay phone call and Appellant talking to Elvis twice after midnight would have turned the investigation into a “suspicious missing person.” R. 23, ll. 11-13. The only difference, for the supervisor, between a missing person’s case and a suspicious missing person’s case was contacting the investigations department. R. 23, ll. 14-22.

In short, the supervisor indicated that if he had known about a pay phone call from Appellant to Elvis or that Appellant had talked to Elvis twice after midnight, the supervisor

probably (1) would have interviewed Appellant personally, and (2) would have contacted Investigations. These were the only changes the supervisor indicated would have occurred.

Appellant's second contact with police

Cantebury contacted his fellow officer, Brian Scales, to accompany him to Appellant's house on December 20, 2013, in the wee hours of the morning. R. 40, ll. 11-22; R. 54, ll. 3-5. Elvis had been missing "[r]oughly, two days." R. 50, ll. 14-16. At the time of this conversation, the police "were investigating a missing person" and "believed" Appellant was "the last person to have spoken to her." R. 41, ll. 8-14. While Cantebury and Scales spoke to Appellant, Scales's in-car camera recorded the interaction. R. 41, l. 15 – R. 42, l. 10; State's Exhibit #1. According to the video, the police spoke to Appellant from 2:11 a.m. until 2:30 a.m. on December 20, 2013, just a short time after Appellant spoke to Cantebury's supervisor by phone. R. 46, ll. 11-15; R. 47, ll. 6-9; R. 53, ll. 22-25; State's Exhibit #1.

Appellant told the officers that the last time he spoke to Elvis was either last night or the night before. State's Exhibit #1. Appellant readily admitted that he and Elvis had been involved in a relationship. State's Exhibit #1. After the break-up, the two did not have contact with each other until recently, when Elvis contacted him repeatedly. State's Exhibit #1. At the mention of this, Cantebury said he had records showing that for the last month there were 360 text messages and over twenty calls between the two. R. 58, ll. 18-22; State's Exhibit #1.

Although Appellant never told the officers that he had called Elvis that night, he did say that she had called him and left a voicemail. R. 49, ll. 10-16; State's Exhibit #1. At the time of the conversation with police, Appellant had deleted the voicemail. R. 49, ll. 17-18; State's Exhibit #1. Appellant never mentioned a pay phone call. R. 49, ll. 19-20. Appellant told police that the last time he saw Elvis was several weeks prior to the police speaking to him. R. 49, ll.

21-23. Appellant did not mention seeing Elvis around his house the week prior to the conversation. R. 50, l. 24 – R. 51, l. 1.

During this conversation, Appellant provided the officers with his phone and permitted the officers to look at his phone, including seeing text messages from Elvis. R. 182, ll. 3-23; State's Exhibit #1.

At trial, Scales claimed that if Appellant had told them that he called Elvis from a pay phone earlier that night, then the police "would have tried to locate the pay phone and any surveillance video around" it. R. 51, ll. 10-15. Testimony from another officer would reveal the police were well aware of the pay phone calling Elvis's phone and immediately obtained surveillance video from the area around the pay phone.

The detectives' investigation

Jeff Cauble was assigned to investigate the disappearance of Elvis at 8:30 or 9:00 a.m. on December 20, 2013, - a mere six hours after the police met with Appellant at his home and only seven-and-a-half hours after the supervisor called Appellant. R. 121, ll. 2-23. Quite clearly, this was "very early on in the investigative stage." R. 121, l. 24 – R. 122, l. 1.

Jonathan Martin, another detective working the case, obtained Elvis's phone records "[f]irst thing in the morning" on December 20, 2013. R. 51, l. 24 – R. 52, l. 1; R. 63, ll. 1-11. Using "exigent circumstances," the police obtained Elvis's phone records "very quickly" – having the records around 8:30 or 9:00 a.m. R. 64, ll. 9-17; R. 64, l. 20. In fact, the police may have had Elvis's phone records prior to questioning Appellant on December 20, 2013, at 2 a.m., which would explain Canterbury's reference to text messages and phone calls. R. 60, ll. 13-21; R. 124, ll. 8-12; State's Exhibit #1.

As the police explained, it would be “routine” to obtain the cell phone records of a missing person. R. 58, ll. 15-17. According to Martin, “[i]n a normal missing person case” the police will “look to see if [the missing person had] any communication with people.” R. 64, ll. 9-13.

Elvis’s phone records on December 18, 2013, from 1:35 a.m. until 3:41 a.m. revealed that she received a phone call from a pay phone at 1:35 a.m. that lasted for just under five minutes. R. 68, l. 23 – R. 72, l. 10.³ In light of the call being made from a pay phone, the police did not know the identity of the caller.

“In the beginning stages” of the investigation, Brian Wilson was tasked with getting video of the pay phone at a gas station. R. 293, ll. 9-15. The police had this video *prior* to Appellant’s interrogation during the afternoon on December 20, 2013. R. 293, l. 25 – R. 294, l. 2. The police obtained the video because they were aware that Elvis’s phone received a call from that pay phone, but they were not aware of the caller’s identity. R. 295, ll. 10-19; R. 297, ll. 23-25. Due to its quality, the video did not reveal the identity of the caller either. R. 297, ll. 20-22.

Prior to Appellant meeting with police during the afternoon of December 20, 2013, at least one officer had watched video footage from a location near the pay phone. R. 98, ll. 15-20. The footage revealed a “male figure” fitting Appellant’s description. R. 98, ll. 19-20. The police were aware that Appellant was “the one communicating with her so much around” the time of the pay phone call; therefore, “it made sense” to the police that “he would have been the one to make that phone call” from the pay phone. R. 101, ll. 7-12.

³ The payphone records established that at 1:33 a.m. on December 18, 2013, there was a call to Elvis’s phone from that payphone that lasted for four minutes and fifty seconds. R. 115, ll. 10-21.

Wilson explained that the police would have obtained the video from the pay phone *even if* Appellant *never* spoke to the police. R. 299, ll. 11-19. Wilson was clear that the police would not have known the caller's identity had Appellant not told the police that he was the person using the pay phone to call Elvis. R. 300, ll. 3- 23. In fact, according to Wilson, Appellant aided the investigation by supplying this information. R. 301, ll. 3-6.

After the call from the pay phone to Elvis, she repeatedly called the pay phone that had called her earlier beginning at 2:29 a.m. R. 73, l. 1 – R. 75, l. 17. Elvis also attempted to send text messages to the pay phone. R. 84, l. 22 – R. 85, l. 12.

Then, at 3:16 a.m., Elvis called Appellant's phone number. R. 75, l. 18 – R. 76, l. 2. The police were aware this was Appellant's phone number because he provided it to them and actually spoke to them using that phone number. R. 76, ll. 3-6. Elvis called Appellant's number again at 3:17 a.m. and the call lasted for just over four minutes. R. 76, ll. 12-18. Elvis continued to call Appellant's number thereafter. R. 76, l. 20 – R. 77, l. 5; R. 80, ll. 1-14. Due to the phone records, the police were also aware that at 3:41 a.m. on December 18, 2013, Elvis spoke to Appellant. R. 90, ll. 24-25.

On December 20, 2013, the police obtained Appellant's phone records as well. R. 76, ll. 7-9; R. 86, ll. 16-22; R. 87, ll. 13-15. In fact, the police had Appellant's phone records when Appellant met with the police on later in the day on December 20, 2013. R. 87, ll. 13-20; R. 95, ll. 3-5.

Based upon phone records, the police knew that Elvis had talked to Appellant "that day." R. 124, ll. 6-10. For the police, it was "very important ... to talk to everyone who could have known something about her whereabouts." R. 124, ll. 10-12.

Appellant's third contact with police

Martin and Cauble, detectives with the Horry County Police Department, interrogated Appellant on December 20, 2013, at approximately 3 or 3:30 p.m. R. 89, ll. 4-9; R. 124, ll. 3-5; State's Exhibit #8. Appellant spoke to the police for "about 45 minutes." R. 91, ll. 20-22; State's Exhibit #8.

Martin explained that the police were "[v]ery early in the investigation" at the time of the interrogation of Appellant. R. 90, ll. 3-6. The police had been working the case only "about five hours." R. 90, ll. 3-6. Martin noted that gathering accurate information is important in an investigation because "[a]ny leads that lead you to a different direction can be very time consuming." R. 89, l. 25 – R. 90, l. 2.

What Appellant told police initially did not "match up with the phone records" the police received. R. 91, ll. 23-25. Martin explained that initially, Appellant "did not disclose the pay phone call," but when the police "presented him with the belief that he was the one that made the call," including having video from the area of the pay phone, Appellant admitted he made the pay phone call. R. 92, ll. 1-5; R. 144, l. 21 – R. 145, l. 1; State's Exhibit #8.⁴ Although Appellant initially denied calling Elvis from a pay phone, within ten or fifteen seconds, he admitted to the call. R. 101, l. 22 – R. 102, l. 2; State's Exhibit #8. Appellant explained he called Elvis at 3:17 a.m. to tell her to stop putting notes on his car. R. 135, ll. 4-12; R. 135, ll. 13-14; State's Exhibit #8. Additionally, during the interrogation, Appellant denied seeing Elvis the week before. R. 92, ll. 6-8.⁵

⁴ According to Cauble, it was only when the police told Appellant they had video from the pay phone that Appellant "felt like he needed to come clean" and tell the police that he "actually made a phone call." R. 180, ll. 1-4.

⁵ Martin testified that Appellant denied "seeing her prior to November." R. 92, ll. 6-8. This statement could not be true as the recording of the interrogation revealed and as the police knew because Elvis and Appellant were dating from July until October or November.

Martin was forced to admit that he would not have known that Appellant made the phone call to Elvis without Appellant's admission. R. 110, l. 5 – R. 222, ll. 23. In essence, the information Appellant provided actually assisted law enforcement in their investigation. R. 111, ll. 21-23.

The solicitor wanted to know what Martin did as a result of Appellant's statements on December 20, 2013. Martin explained:

Being that he was the last person that had any known communication with her, the last phone record showed he talked to her, and he actually admitted he had talked to her, you know, his statements were very important to us. So we had to corroborate the things he was saying. When he identified that he is providing us information that was less than true, we had to now follow up on everything that had to do with his statements.

R. 92, ll. 9-21. When asked what follow-up Martin did as a result of Appellant not disclosing the pay phone call immediately, Martin explained the police "would be thorough in the complete investigation." R. 94, ll. 2-5. The implication being the police would be less than thorough had Appellant immediately disclosed the pay phone call. Martin went a little further, noting that because Appellant "provided a statement that [was] less than true," the police "had to confirm everything that he provided" to the police that Appellant claimed was true. R. 94, ll. 6-10. In the words of Martin, the police "would have to confirm everything." R. 94, ll. 10-11.

Martin further stated that if Appellant had told the first officers with whom he spoke about his calling Elvis from a pay phone, the police "probably would have gone out to that pay phone the night of the incident, maybe talked to witnesses when we know he was out there, talk to maybe the person that worked the pay phone." R. 95, l. 16 – R. 96, l. 1. Additionally, Martin said that because Appellant was "providing a statement that he [was] out there," the police would not "have to do the phone records from the pay phone." R. 96, ll. 1-3. Martin also claimed that

if Appellant had told the patrolman that he used a pay phone to call Elvis, that “probably would have furthered” law enforcement “a couple of hours.” R. 98, ll. 4-9.

When pressed for how Appellant’s denial of making the call from the pay phone impeded or obstructed the investigation, Martin seemed bewildered: “If he was honest about making the pay phone call then there would have been” R. 103, ll. 9-11. Upon further prodding, he stated, “There would have been more belief that the statements he [was] providing us were truthful, everything was truthful, as opposed to - - a single lie can make the entire statement be questioned.” R. 103, ll. 12-16.

The police were interested in where Appellant was during the late evening hours of December 17, 2013, into the early morning hours of December 18, 2013. R. 131, ll. 10-17; State’s Exhibit #8. Cauble claimed that Appellant misled the police about his whereabouts during those hours. R. 133, ll. 11-13. According to Cauble, the police found out Appellant “was actually near her residenc[e] at one point, and that he was also at Long Beard’s which is where [Elvis] was actually as well, later on that evening.” R. 133, ll. 14-18.⁶ For some unstated reason, this was “material” to the police investigation, and the police did not discover it until *after* speaking to Appellant. R. 134, ll. 3-7.

Cauble “guess[ed]” it took until mid-February for the police to “figure out what part of [Appellant]’s statement was true and which part was not.” R. 140, l. 24 – R. 141, l. 2.

Other than Appellant denying using the pay phone to call Elvis, which Appellant corrected within ten seconds, Cauble could point to no other time that Appellant *lied* to law enforcement. R. 167, ll. 2-6. According to Cauble, Appellant *misled* the police regarding the length of his relationship with Elvis when he said the two were involved from the beginning of

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