ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-001876

RECEIVED
JUL 12 2019
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SIDNEY ST. CLAIR MOORER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

PO Box 1276
Conway, SC 29546
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

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

ARGUMENT

The record amply supports the circuit court's denial of Appellant's directed verdict motion.

Appellant asserts the trial judge erred in denying his motion for directed verdict because the State did not present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that his actions obstructed the administration of justice. Specifically, he contends the evidence presented, at best, established a providing false information to a police officer charge, the evidence was "murky," and nothing in South Carolina jurisprudence regarding common law obstruction of justice indicates a private citizen can obstruct justice by hindering a police investigation,

When considering a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 53, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002). The trial court's task is to simply determine "whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 781 S.E.2d 352 (2016).

"It is a fundamental concept of criminal law that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt all the elements of the offense charged against the defendant." State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 602 S.E.2d 392, 397 (2004). Ultimately, the question is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)).

The United States Supreme Court noted the following:

[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the

light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.

Jackson, at 319 (emphasis in original).

In 1980, the South Carolina legislature enacted Article 4, Chapter 9 of Title 16 of the South Carolina Code, entitled “Interference with Judicial Process.” “This statute codifies various crimes which were categorized at common law under the general heading of obstruction of justice and which were previously prosecuted as such in South Carolina.” MCCANINCH, FAIREY & COGGIOLA, *THE CRIMINAL LAW OF SOUTH CAROLINA* 547 (6th ed.2002). While the statute codified some acts previously prosecuted as common law obstruction of justice, the statute is not completely comprehensive, and some acts do not fall within the statutory scheme. *See State v. Lyles-Gray*, 328 S.C. 458, 492 S.E.2d 802, 805 (Ct. App. 1997) (Although the statute codifies ‘various common law crimes’ it does not purport to codify or supersede **all** of them.”) (emphasis in original).

Under common law, obstruction of justice is defined as “any act which prevents, obstructs, impedes, or hinders the administration of justice.” *State v. Cogdell*, 273 S.C. 563, 257 S.E.2d 748, 750-51 (1979) (quoting 67 C.J.S. Obstructing Justice §§2 and 3). “Success in the effort to obstruct justice is **not** necessary to constitute the offense; it is sufficient if some act is done in furtherance of the endeavor.” *State v. Love*, 275 S.C. 55, 271 S.E.2d 110, 113 (1980) (emphasis provided).

In Lyles-Gray, an officer with the Camden Police Department, was indicted and convicted of two counts of common law obstruction of justice and two counts of official misconduct in office. The underlying facts of the case arose when a store security manager observed the defendant’s

daughter and a companion acting suspiciously. *Id.* 492 S.E.2d at 803-805. The security manager watched the defendant's daughter put a sweater into a shopping bag, leave the store without paying for the sweater, place the shopping bag into a blue Ford Escort, and then return to the store. *Id.* The security manager reported the theft to Sergeant George Waters, who observed the shopping bag in the floorboard of the Escort when he arrived at the scene. *Id.* Defendant's daughter denied any knowledge of the Escort, and she and her companion ultimately drove away in another vehicle. *Id.*

Sgt. Waters performed a license check and discovered the defendant owned the vehicle. He then called the defendant to ask if a locksmith could open the vehicle, and she told him to "leave it alone." *Id.* When store personnel subsequently saw the defendant arrive and unlock the Escort, the security manager walked to the vehicle and tapped on the window. The defendant asked the manager "Do you know who I am?" The manager informed the defendant she believed there was stolen merchandise in the vehicle, to which the defendant replied, "I'm Henrietta Gray with the Camden City Police Department, and I think not." When the security manager again asked for the merchandise, the defendant stated, "I think not, lady," and drove away. *Id.*

The defendant's deceptive conduct continued throughout the investigation. She refused to interview witnesses after her daughter was identified as a suspect, and later prepared an arrest warrant for a third party who was not present. The security manager refused to sign the warrant affidavit because it did not accurately represent what actually occurred in the case. The defendant then refused to turn the stolen sweater over to the officer who took over the investigation. *Id.* The State Law Enforcement Division subsequently investigated the defendant, and she was indicted and convicted for obstruction of justice and misconduct in office. *Id.*

On appeal, the defendant first contended the trial judge should have quashed the indictment for common law obstruction of justice on the ground S.C. Code Section 16-9-340 superseded common law obstruction. The court quickly dispensed with the argument, finding while the statute sought to codify some common law crimes, it did not purport to supersede all of them. *Id.* at 805-806.

Second, and more pertinent to the instant case, the defendant contended the trial judge erred in denying her motion for directed verdict on the obstruction charge. The Court found the State presented sufficient evidence from which a jury could logically conclude the defendant obstructed justice. *Id.* at 806-807.

In this case, it is uncontroverted Appellant lied to law enforcement regarding his relationship and contacts with Heather in December 2013. He contends, however, his lies could not constitute acts preventing, obstructing, impeding or hindering the administration of justice, because he eventually told the truth, and there was no evidence law enforcement would have done anything differently if Appellant had not lied.

The Lyles-Gray analysis belies Appellant's argument. The defendant in Lyles-Gray engaged in a deceptive and duplicitous course of conduct intended to derail a criminal investigation. While not as blatant as the Lyles-Gray defendant's conduct, Appellant engaged in a course of conduct designed to impede a criminal investigation. Critically, Lyles-Gray stands for the proposition that, contrary to Appellant's assertion a judicial proceeding must exist in order for someone to obstruct justice, common law obstruction of justice **does** apply to a pre-warrant or pre-charge investigation by police officers. See City of Columbia v. Bouie, 239 S.C.570, 124 S.E.2d 332 (1962) ("Resisting arrest is one form of the common-law offense of obstructing justice. . . ."),

rev'd on other grounds, 378 U.S. 347 (1964). Therefore, an on-going judicial process is not necessary for a defendant to be convicted of obstruction of justice.

Appellant's narrow interpretation of the common law obstruction of justice offense would generate an absurd result in this case, and encourage a culture of obstructionism by criminal defendants. It defies logic to hold that criminal defendants should be able to willfully lie to law enforcement officers in order to obstruct the investigation and potentially avoid justice, and then avoid any type of criminal liability for their conduct. Appellant's interpretation would encourage criminal defendants to deliberately sabotage any investigation by law enforcement because they know it may lead to their exoneration, and their obstruction is conduct for which they could not be punished.

Appellant's insistence the State failed to present any evidence his false statements to law enforcement impeded the investigation into Heather's disappearance is fundamentally flawed. First, his argument ignores the express holding in Love that "success in the endeavor" is **not** required for an obstruction of justice charge. 271 S.E.2d at 113. Significantly, Appellant only told the truth about his call to Heather from the payphone when confronted with the knowledge there was a surveillance video of the person making the call.⁸ If admitting the fact after being confronted with proof of the lie is sufficient to defeat an obstruction of justice, suspects in criminal investigations will have free rein to lie until confronted with evidence contradicting the lie.

Second, Appellant's argument would require prosecutors to prove a negative. Law enforcement officers have to follow the information provided, and as officers testified in this case,

⁸At the time of the interview, investigators had seen the video, but were unable to identify the person making the call because of the video's poor quality. They never told Appellant they knew he was the person on the video, but apparently believing he would be identified by the video, Appellant admitted making the call.

Appellant's admitted lie required resources and time to corroborate or contradict the rest of his statements. It is impossible to know or prove what additional information or evidence law enforcement might have been able to pursue in the critical early stages of Heather's case if Appellant had simply told the truth. For instance, armed with the truth, law enforcement might have been able to pursue other leads and establish probable cause for warrants to search Appellant's and his wife's home and/or vehicles. Further, with the passage of time required to investigate the validity of Appellant's entire statements, such as his visit to Wal-Mart and the location of his phone during the critical time period, there was a greater possibility evidence was destroyed or contaminated.

Similarly, Appellant's contention an obstruction of justice charge requires interference with the "administration of justice" in a court proceeding is fundamentally flawed. His contention is premised on the lack of case law in South Carolina holding a private citizen can be guilty of obstructing justice for lying to law enforcement during a criminal investigation.⁹ The absence of case law specifically addressing obstruction of justice charges against a private citizen does not lead to the inescapable conclusion the charge can never be supported. To the contrary, at least one court has held the investigation of crime is "critical to the administration of justice." People v.

⁹Appellant argues lying to law enforcement may be the basis for charges of misprision of a felony or providing false information to a police officer, rather than obstruction of justice. The decision regarding what charges to bring is committed to the prosecutor's discretion, and the mere fact the prosecutor could have charged other offenses does not invalidate the charges the prosecutor ultimately brought. See State v. Geer, 391 S.C. 179, 705 S.E.2d 441, 449 (Ct. App.2010) ("In our criminal justice system, the Government retains broad discretion as to whom to prosecute. [S]o long as the prosecutor has probable cause to believe that the accused committed an offense defined by statute, the decision whether or not to prosecute, and what charge to file or bring before a grand jury, generally rests entirely in his discretion." (alteration by court) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)); Strickland v. State, 276 S.C. 17, 274 S.E.2d 430, 432 (1981) ("We [have] indicated the fact that a prosecuting attorney may select which of several offenses with which an accused may be charged is not constitutionally obnoxious." (internal quotation marks omitted)).

Barbee, 681 N.W.2d 348, 351 (Mich. 2004) (providing a false name to police during a criminal investigation constitutes interference with the administration of justice). The term “administration of justice” is purposely expansive, as conduct amounting to obstruction can arise any time from the inception of a criminal investigation through the adjudication of a particular defendant’s case, and to hold that a judicial proceeding must be initiated **before** a person can obstruct justice would lead to patently absurd results:

Much of Appellant’s brief is a recitation of obstruction cases involving public officials, and contentions regarding the substance of certain testimony and how it should be interpreted. These are red herrings intended to distract from the only issue before the court - the propriety of the trial judge’s denial of Appellant’s directed verdict motion. In other words, was there any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence from which the jury could have found Appellant lied to obstruct justice during the investigation into Heather’s disappearance?

While the trial judge acknowledged the absence of case law defining “impede,” the word does have a commonly understood, and readily apparent, definition – “to interfere with or slow the progress of” something. See <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/impede>.¹⁰ As discussed above, a defendant does not have to **succeed** in interfering with, or slowing the progress of, an investigation. Love, 271 S.E.2d at 113. Rather, it is sufficient if the defendant lied to law enforcement **with the intent** to interfere with or slow down the investigation.

As the trial judge found, there were several aspects of the evidence presented from which the jury could find Appellant’s lies or “misstatements” were intended to impede law enforcement’s investigation of him as a suspect in Heather’s disappearance, not the least of which was Demario’s

¹⁰According to The Merriam-Webster Dictionary, “obstruct” and “hinder” are synonyms of “impede.” (<https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/obstruct#> and <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/hinder#>).

testimony he saw something on the phone Appellant showed him that indicated Appellant had withheld information from law enforcement.¹¹ (TT, pp. 453-462; R., pp.386-395).

In addition to the evidence the trial judge referenced as supporting a jury verdict beyond a reasonable doubt, the evidence also established Appellant lied about Heather leaving notes on his truck as a premise for the payphone call on December 18th. All the evidence indicated Appellant drove a white truck while he was involved with Heather, and did not even own a black truck until well after he claimed he broke off the relationship, and days after the phone records indicated communications with Heather on November 3rd and 5th. There was no evidence Heather knew Appellant had traded in the white truck for a black one, and therefore, she could not have left notes on his truck in the days leading up to the payphone call.

The trial judge's concerns regarding a lack of instructive case law aside, considering the evidence in its entirety, and in the light most favorable to the State, leads to the natural conclusion the trial judge properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion. In order to withstand the motion, the State had to present evidence from which a reasonable juror could conclude Appellant's deliberate "misstatements" (a/k/a lies) to law enforcement about the extent of his communications with Heather leading up to her disappearance could reasonably be interpreted as acts designed to obstruct, impede or hinder the criminal investigation. The jury was presented with substantial circumstantial evidence of the elements of common law obstruction of justice.

¹¹Appellant boldly claims his lies actually "improved" the investigation because they forced law enforcement to investigate the case "more thoroughly." (Brief of Appellant, p. 34). If lying to law enforcement improves an investigation, every criminal defendant can lie indiscriminately to law enforcement regarding his involvement in a criminal act and then claim he was actually helping law enforcement do its job, even if the lies required law enforcement to divert resources otherwise available to investigate the case, especially in the early stages of the investigation.

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